In the Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO.: SC07-1888

JUSTO CARLOS PEREZ, individually, MARTA S. PEREZ, his wife,
AMY LYNN PEREZ and ANGIE PEREZ,

Petitioners,

v.

LA DOVE, INC.,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE
THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Respectfully submitted,

SILVA & SILVA, P.A.
236 Valencia Avenue
Coral Gables, Florida 33134
Telephone (305) 445-0011
Facsimile (305) 445-1181

-and-

RUSSO APPELLATE FIRM, P.A.
6101 Southwest 76th Street
Miami, Florida 33143
Telephone (305) 666-4660
Facsimile (305) 666-4470

Counsel for Petitioners

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

While working for La Dove, Inc., Petitioner Justo Carlos Perez was rendered a paraplegic while operating a forklift, which traveled off the end of a loading dock and crushed him. (A 2).¹ Petitioners Perez, his wife, and their two children filed and then settled a negligence action against R&R Industrial Trucks, Inc., the company responsible for maintenance of the forklift, claiming that a malfunction in the forklift's braking or transmission system caused the accident. (A 2). The Petitioners' recovery against R&R was substantially impaired by the fact that La Dove had failed to preserve the forklift in its condition at the time of the accident. (A 2).

The Petitioners thus brought the instant suit against La Dove for spoliation of evidence. (A 2). Their complaint specifically alleged that Michael Bass, the La Dove Vice President who was present the day of the accident, was “[admittedly] aware that a lawsuit could extend from the accident.” (A 2). The complaint alleged that, despite his actual knowledge of the evidentiary nature of the then-current condition of the forklift, Mr. Bass sent the forklift off for inspection, repair, and refurbishment immediately after police cleared the scene. (A 2).

¹ The Third District decision as to which review is sought is attached as an appendix to this brief, and all facts stated herein appear on the face of the decision. References to the Appendix appear as (A ___). All emphasis in this brief has been supplied by undersigned counsel unless indicated.

Petitioner Perez did not ask La Dove to preserve the forklift in the two-week period during which it was being repaired, but, as even the Third District's opinion put it, "given the severity of the accident, Mr. Perez probably had limited ability to make such a request." (A 2).

The Third District Court of Appeal issued a written decision affirming the trial court's dismissal of the Petitioners' suit against La Dove for spoliation of evidence. (A 1-8). As Petitioner Perez believes the Third District's decision creates direct and express conflict, Petitioner filed a timely notice to invoke this Court's jurisdiction, and these proceedings ensued.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District's decision expressly and directly conflicts with a decision on the same question of law which was issued by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Builder's Square v. Shaw*, 755 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). A basis for exercise of this Court's discretionary review powers is thus presented under the provisions of Art. V, § 3(b)(3) Fla. Const. (1980) and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

In this case, the Third District, interpreting §440.39(7), Fla. Stat. (1997), addressed the notice requirement for a covered employee to file a negligent destruction of evidence claim against his employer, where the employee's recovery against a third-party tortfeasor is alleged to have been substantially impaired by the

employer's failure to preserve necessary evidence for use in that action. The Third District court held that a negligent destruction of evidence claim exists *only* if there has been actual notice given by the employee to the employer that the evidence should be preserved.

In contrast, in *Builder's Square v. Shaw, supra*, the Fourth District, also interpreting § 440.39(7), did *not* make notice from the employee a requisite element of a destruction of evidence claim against an employer, holding instead that an employer can be charged with constructive notice that evidence should be preserved when the circumstances are such that the employer "*should have known* that certain evidence could conceivably be critical to an employee's claim." *Builder's Square, supra*, 755 So. 2d at 724.

Under the legal standard set by Third District, the Petitioner's complaint was held to have properly been dismissed for failure to state a cause of action. Conversely, under the legal standard set by the Fourth District, the Petitioner's complaint would not have been held to have stated a cause of action, raising a fact question as to whether the employer had constructive notice that the forklift should have been preserved as evidence.

Because the Third District is now in conflict with the Fourth District, this Court has jurisdiction to resolve the conflict and restore uniformity to the law of Florida on this issue of law.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same point of law. Art. V, § 3(b)(3) Fla.Const. (1980); Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN *BUILDER'S SQUARE V. SHAW*, 755 So. 2d 721 (FLA. 4TH DCA 1999).

The conflict presented in this case arises from irreconcilable interpretations of § 440.39(7), Fla. Stat., which provides:

(7) The employee, employer, and carrier have a duty to cooperate with each other in investigating and prosecuting claims and potential claims against third-party tortfeasors by producing nonprivileged documents and allowing inspection of premises, but only to the extent necessary for such purpose. Such documents and the results of such inspections are confidential and exempt from the provisions of s. 119.07(1), and shall not be used or disclosed for any other purpose.

The Third District Court of Appeal had previously interpreted this provision as creating an implied exception to employers' workers compensation immunity to allow an action by a covered employee against his employer for negligent destruction of evidence where his recovery against a third-party tortfeasor is alleged to have been substantially impaired by the employer's failure to preserve

necessary evidence. *General Cinema Beverages of Miami, Inc. v. Mortimer*, 689 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). The *General Cinema* decision contained a remark that such an action would be permissible at least in instances “where ... there has been a timely request for preservation.” 689 So. 2d at 279.

Thereafter, the Fourth District issued its decision in *Builder’s Square v. Shaw*, 755 So. 2d 721 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). In *Builder’s Square*, an employee fell off a ladder while he was employed by Builder’s Square. He initially sued the manufacturer of the ladder, but after he learned the ladder had been destroyed, he amended his complaint to add a cause of action against Builder’s Square for spoliation of evidence on the basis he was forced to accept an inadequate settlement from the ladder manufacturer without the ladder. At trial, the jury found that the employee-plaintiff had been substantially impaired in his ability to pursue his products liability claim against the ladder manufacturer as a result of Builder’s Square’s failure to preserve the ladder as evidence, and rendered a verdict in his favor.

On appeal, Builder’s Square argued - based on the *Cinema Beverages’* reference to ‘at least where ... there has been a timely request for preservation’ - that “an employee must make a definite request to the employer to preserve specific, identified evidence before an employer may be held liable on a spoliation of evidence claim.” *Builder’s Square, supra*, 755 So. 2d at 723-24. The Fourth

District rejected that argument and the ‘request’ requirement set out in *Cinema Beverages*, stating: “We think Builder’s Square reads the statute too narrowly.” 755 So. 2d at 724. The Fourth District held instead that an employer can be charged with notice to preserve evidence when the circumstances are such that the employer “*should have known* that certain evidence could conceivably be critical to an employee’s claim.” *Id.* The Fourth District explained:

Before [the employer] proceeded to dispose of any of [the evidence], the statutory duty of cooperation with its injured employee should certainly have suggested that it consult with the employee.... ***The failure of Builder’s Square to consult with plaintiff before disposing of the ladder could have been understood by the jury as a violation of the duty to preserve.*** Thus, we agree that plaintiff presented a jury question as to the sufficiency of the notice.

755 So. 2d at 724.

The Third District’s decision as to which Petitioners here seek review from this Court has now examined and disagreed with the Fourth District’s decision in *Builders Square*. The Third District decision in this case holds that a destruction of evidence suit against an employer will lie only where the employee has given actual notice to the employer via a *Cinema Beverages* ‘timely request’ for preservation of the evidence in question. *Perez v. La Dove, Inc.*, __ So. 2d __, 2007 WL 2609381 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007). (A 1-8). In so doing, the Third District expressly declined the opportunity to align itself with the contrary rule set out by Fourth District in *Builder’s Square*.

Accordingly, the Third District rule is now that only *actual* notice in the form of a timely employee request will activate an employer's §440.39(7) duty to preserve evidence, while the Fourth District's *Builder's Square* rule is that *constructive* notice can also activate an employer's duty to preserve evidence. Conflict has thus been created. *See, e.g., N & L Auto Parts Co. v. Doman*, 117 So. 2d 410 (Fla. 1960).

Under the Third District's rule, the Petitioners' complaint was held to have properly been dismissed for failure to state a cause of action because the Petitioners could only allege facts showing that the employer had constructive notice that the evidence should be preserved. Under the Fourth District's rule, the Petitioners' complaint would have been held to have stated a cause of action and to have raised a jury question as to whether the employer should have preserved the forklift. The Third District's decision here has created express and direct conflict with the Fourth District's *Builder's Square* decision.

Petitioners also respectfully submit that the conflict is one which should be resolved by this Court, and specifically, that it should be resolved by quashing the decision of the Third District and approving that of the Fourth District in *Builder's Square*. Where third-party tortfeasors are, or may be, at fault for injuries caused to employees while they are working, the law has an interest in having such third-party tortfeasors compensate the employees for their injuries, thus lessening the

burden on the workers' compensation system - precisely the reason for the inclusion of § 440.39(7) in the workers compensation statute. *See, e.g., Shaw v. Cambridge Integrated Services Group, Inc.*, 888 So. 2d 58, 64 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004)(“One of the most important rules and conditions stated in the Workers' Compensation statute is the duty to cooperate ... which includes the duty to preserve evidence”).

Further, the law has required both employers and employees to give up some rights to effectuate the aim of the workers compensation statute, but what the employees have given up is the right to full recovery of their tort damages.

Where an employee has sustained severe, life-altering injuries as a result of tortious conduct by a third-party, as in this case where Petitioner Justo Perez has been left paraplegic for the rest of his life, the difference between workers' compensation benefits and full recovery of tort damages can result in devastating variances in the quality of the employee's remaining life. If the employer *should* have known that evidence should be preserved to allow its employee to make a full recovery - and, as here, there was *no way* for the catastrophically-injured employee to make a 'timely request' for preservation - the better rule is that constructive as well as actual notice can serve to activate the employer's duty of preservation. After all, if it can be found, factually, that an employer should have known that it was destroying material evidence and thus standing in the way of its injured

employee's ability to make a full recovery, there is no reason that the employer should *not* be held responsible for breach of its duty to preserve the evidence.

In sum, Petitioners respectfully submit that a conflict has been shown that can, and should, be resolved by the Court. The Petitioners accordingly respectfully pray that this Court exercise its discretionary discretion and accept this case for review.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing facts and authorities, Petitioners respectfully submit that the conflict identified above present a basis for exercise of the Court's discretionary review jurisdiction, and the Court should exercise that jurisdiction to resolve the conflict by considering Petitioners' case on the merits.