SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
Case No. SC 07-1888

JUSTO CARLOS PEREZ, individually;
MARTA S. PEREZ, his wife;
AMY LYNN PEREZ and ANGIE PEREZ,

Petitioners,

v.

LA DOVE, INC.,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM
THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS

(Lower Tribunal Case No. 3D05-2597)

Michael J. Higer, Esquire
Florida Bar No. 500798
Higer Lichter & Givner, LLP
Counsel for Respondent La Dove, Inc.
2999 N.E. 191st Street, Suite 700
Aventura, Florida 33180
Telephone: 305-933-9970
Facsimile : 305-933-0998
Mhiger@HLGlawyers.com

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is undisputed that, prior to the repairs made to the forklift, Petitioners did not request Respondent to preserve the forklift, nor did Petitioners give Respondent notice of an intent to commence litigation against any third-parties. A statutory duty to cooperate by preserving evidence, §440.39(7), Fla. Stat., will only be imposed on an employer where, at the very least, an employee makes a specific request for preservation, *General Cinema Beverages of Miami, Inc. v. Mortimer*,

689 So. 2d 276, 279 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), or actually notifies the employer of a potential legal action. *Pennsylvania Lumberman's Mut. Ins. Co., v. Florida Power & Light Co.*, 724 So. 2d 629, 629 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998); *see also Royal & Sunalliance v. Lauderdale Marine Center*, 877 So. 2d 843, 845 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004).

In seeking this Court's jurisdiction, Petitioners assert the Third District's ruling below conflicts with a non-party's obligation to preserve evidence based on *mere anticipation* of litigation, as applied *once* by the Fourth District and from which standard the Fourth District has since receded. The Fourth District's decision in *Builder's Square* only demonstrates that court's confusion on the spoliation issue as applied within the confines of the Worker's Compensation Law and not any conflict with the decision below of the Third District. This Court should not exercise its discretionary jurisdiction simply to enlighten the Fourth District as to the true meaning of its own rulings and the applicable Workers' Compensation Law. *See Shaw v. Puleo*, 159 So. 2d 641 (Fla. 1964) (holding a conflict within a jurisdiction did not warrant this Court's exercise of jurisdiction).

ARGUMENT

THERE IS NO BASIS FOR THIS COURT'S DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION

1. There is No Conflict

The requisite elements of a claim for spoliation or negligent destruction of evidence are:

(1) existence of a potential civil action, (2) a legal or contractual duty to preserve evidence which is relevant to the potential civil action, (3) destruction of that evidence, (4) significant impairment in the ability to prove the lawsuit, (5) a causal relationship between the evidence destruction and the inability to prove the lawsuit, and (6) damages.

Continental Ins. Co. v. Herman, 576 So. 2d 313, 315 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990). The law is clear in both the Third and Fourth Districts that an employer's duty to preserve evidence is invoked (as the employer's statutory duty to "cooperate" under Florida Statute Section 440.39(7)) where, *at a minimum*, the employee has made a timely request for preservation and is not invoked by mere anticipation of litigation. *See Royal & Sunalliance*, 877 So. 2d at 845-46 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004) (analyzing prior cases of the Fourth District and concluding the "argument that there was a common law duty to preserve evidence in anticipation of litigation to be without merit"); *Pennsylvania Lumberman's*, 724 So. 2d at 629; *General Cinema*, 689 So. 2d at 278-79.

Despite the fact that the Third District opinion below fails to conflict with the prevailing standard in the Fourth District, Petitioners are attempting to manufacture a conflict with a single aberrational decision in the Fourth District. In *Builder's Square*, a panel comprised of Judges Polen, Taylor and Frusciante, for the first time, found that an employer's duty to preserve evidence arose despite the absence of any request for preservation. "We think that while actual notice of identified evidence is the clearest form, an employer can similarly be charged with notice when the circumstances are such that it should have known that certain evidence could conceivably be critical to an employee's claim." *Builder's Square*, 755 So. 2d at 723. The Fourth District has since never cited *Builder's Square* for the proposition that an employer must preserve evidence on the *mere anticipation of litigation*.

To the contrary, two years later, the Fourth District found an employer could be liable where it voluntarily undertook a duty to preserve the evidence, but then failed to do so. *Hagopian v. Publix Supermarkets, Inc.*, 788 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) (citing *Builder's Square* for a related damage issue only). In a case related to *Builder's Square*, the Fourth District instead relied on the *Third District* (with no mention of *Builder's Square*) for a statement that an employer's duty to cooperate includes the duty to preserve evidence). *Shaw v. Cambridge Integrated*

Servs. Group, Inc., 888 So. 2d 58, 64 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004) (relying on *General Cinema*, 689 So. 2d at 279).

Significantly, nearly five years after its decision in *Builder's Square*, the Fourth District (Judges Gunther, Taylor, and Klein) affirmatively dictated the court's position that a duty to preserve evidence arises only upon a request for preservation. *Royal & Sunalliance*, 877 So. 2d at 846. “[N]either *Hagopian* nor *Brinson* establishes a duty to preserve evidence when litigation is merely **anticipated.**” *Id.* (affirming the dismissal of a spoliation claim). In *Royal & Sunalliance*, the Fourth District did not even mention *Builder's Square* (despite the fact that Judge Taylor was on both panels), but rather relied on a case from the Southern District of Florida, *Silhan v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 236 F. Supp. 2d 303, 1311-12 (N.D. Fla. 2002), which extrapolated cases from both the Fourth and Third Districts and definitively concluded that no common law duty to preserve evidence arises upon the mere foreseeability of future litigation. “Thus, no common law duty to preserve evidence (absent some form of notice) currently exists in Florida law.” *Silhan*, 236 F. Supp.2d at 1312 (relied upon by Fourth District in *Royal & Sunalliance*, 877 So. 2d at 845); *see also Hickman v. Carnival Corp.*, 2005 WL 3675961, * 2 (S.D. Fla. July 11, 2005) (relying on *Silhan*, 236 F. Supp. 2d at 1309 and *Royal & Sunalliance*, 877 So. 2d at 845-56, for the conclusion that the mere possibility of litigation is insufficient to create a duty to preserve evidence).

Demonstrating the inexplicable confusion in the Fourth District as to its own prior rulings, in *American Hosp. Mgmt. Co. v. Hettiger*, 904 So. 2d 547, 549 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005),³ the court stated that “a defendant could be charged with a duty to preserve evidence where it could reasonably have foreseen the claim,” and relied – *not on Builder’s Square* -- but on *Hagopian*, 788 So. 2d at 1090, which instead stands for the proposition that a duty to preserve evidence arises when an employer “voluntarily undertakes a duty.” *Royal & Sunalliance*, 877 So. 2d at 847 (J. Klein, concurring).⁴

In sum, there is no conflict for this Court to decide between the Third District’s opinion below and the Fourth District’s ruling in *Builder’s Square*, and this Court should therefore not exercise its discretionary jurisdiction. *See Times Publ’g Co., v. Russell*, 615 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 1993); *South Florida Hosp. Corp. v. McCrea*, 118 So. 2d 25 (Fla. 1960).

³ In *American Hosp. Mgmt.*, the Fourth District opined only as to the propriety of a jury instruction in a first-party negligence claim, having previously held that a first-party plaintiff may not simultaneously maintain both negligence and spoliation claims against the same defendant. *American Hosp. Mgmt.*, 904 So. 2d at 550-51 (citing *Safeguard Mgmt., Inc. v. Pinedo*, 865 So. 2d 672 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004) and *Martino v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 835 So. 2d 1251 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), *approved* 908 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2005)).

⁴ Judge Klein explained that the Fourth District’s reversal of a directed verdict on spoliation in *Hagopian* was “***not on the basis that Publix should have anticipated litigation,***” but rather because Publix had voluntarily assumed a duty to preserve the evidence but failed to do so. *Royal & Sunalliance*, 877 So. 2d at 847 (Klein, J, concurring).

2. There is No Policy Basis For Exercising Jurisdiction

Moreover, there is no policy reason for this Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction. *First*, the lower court's mandate on this issue wisely balances an employee's need for evidence with the employer's constitutional right to own, use and dispose of its property as it deems fit. To hold that an employer is obligated to preserve all potential evidence absent any specific request or notice of related litigation would be unfairly disruptive to a company's efficient administration of business and impose excessive storage and administration costs in connection with all products, conditions, or instrumentalities. *See Martino v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 908 So. 2d 342, 349-50 (Fla. 2005) (Wells, J., concurring).

Second, the dismissal of Petitioners' spoliation claim where, as here, Respondent sought to repair the forklift absent any notice of litigation or request for preservation of evidence, is consistent with §90.407 of the Florida Statutes which protects subsequent remedial measures. "[T]here simply is no claim for 'immediate and deliberate' repair to a defective situation." *Hickman v. Carnival Corp.*, 2000 WL 3675961 at *1.

Third, the Third District's opinion not only fails to conflict with any decision of another district, but is entirely consistent with the overriding policies of Florida's Workers' Compensation law. "The worker's compensation system in Florida is based on a mutual renunciation of common-law rights and defenses by

employers and employees alike.” §440.015, Fla. Stat. (2006). “[E]mployers are provided with immunity from suit by their employees so long as the employer has not engaged in any intentional act designed to result in or that is substantially certain to result in injury or death to the employee.” *Eller v. Shova*, 630 So. 2d 537, 539 (Fla. 1993) (interpreting §440.11(1), Fla. Stat). Consistent with the mandate of the Workers’ Compensation law, the Third District properly refused to find a basis for liability against an employer who merely failed to engage in nebulous conjecture as to the foreseeability of litigation and preserve all such evidence pending confirmation of such conjecture.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, this Court should refuse to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction.